STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 11 2023**

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY  
Deandrea G. Benjamin, Plea Judge  
Courtney Clyburn Pope, PCR Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2023-000035

---

WILLIAM OLIVER AGUILAR PINEDA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DON ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Does probative evidence support the PCR court's finding that plea counsel allowed Respondent to present testimony to the plea court that "she knew was false" and "encouraged him to present false testimony to the court"?
- II. Did the PCR court err as a matter in law in finding plea counsel was ineffective for advising Respondent that his codefendants would testify against him when that finding was based on hindsight?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections serving a twenty-three-year sentence. In August 2017, the Richland County Grand Jury indicated Respondent for murder. This charge arose from the fatal shooting of Pierre Wilson at a nightclub on March 22, 2017. (App. 6-7, 25-26).

On November 5, 2020, Respondent appeared before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin and entered a negotiated plea to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Assistant Public Defender Megan Eigenbrot represented Respondent, and Assistant Solicitor Lamar Fyall represented the State. Pursuant to negotiations, Respondent would be permitted to spend the weekend with his family before reporting to the detention center the following Monday. If Respondent reported as required, he would be sentenced to twenty-three years. If Respondent did not report, he would be sentenced to thirty years. (App. 3-4, 14-16). The court accepted the plea and sentenced Respondent to twenty-three years, contingent upon him reporting. (App. 12, 15).

Respondent did not file a direct appeal. On October 26, 2017, he filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging ineffective assistance of plea counsel. Specifically, he averred he would have proceeded to trial but for counsel's erroneous advice. (App. 29-35). The State filed a return and a motion for a more definite statement. (App. 26-42). Prior to the plea, Respondent filed an amended application raising four grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel.

On September 26, 2022, an evidentiary hearing convened before the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope. At the hearing, Respondent testified he was appointed multiple public defenders before Megan Eigenbrot (plea counsel) was appointed to represent him in January 2020. He explained his prior attorney left the office in March 2019, and he did not learn who his new attorney was until January 2020. (App. 51-55). Respondent stated plea counsel did not meet with him until

the middle of 2020. (App. 57-58).

Respondent testified he wanted to go to trial but plea counsel pressured him to plead guilty. (App. 57-58). According to Respondent, plea counsel said, “[I]f you don’t plead guilty, you know, a judge is going to pretty much give you the maximum sentence due to the severity of the crime and you’re probably looking at a life sentence.” (App. 59).

Respondent testified his prior attorney reviewed discovery with him, which included statements from his codefendants. (App. 56). Additionally, plea counsel informed him that two or three of his codefendants had provided statements and would testify against him. (App. 60). During his testimony, the following exchange occurred:

Q So as to the codefendants, . . . she told you that they would be testifying against you; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q If she had told you—was that one of the reasons you pled guilty?

A No, sir.

Q I mean, would you have gone to trial if you had known they were not going to testify?

A Of course. I wanted to go to trial, regardless.

(App. 60). Respondent stated the codefendants ultimately did not testify against his other codefendants, and no one other than him was serving time for this murder. (App. 60-61).

Regarding the plea, Respondent testified,

I was told that I would be asked a series of questions by the judge and that I would have to answer them. One of the questions that was going to be asked was I, in fact, guilty. And I, you know, raised the question to my attorney that what if I said no, that I’m not guilty. I was told that if I did answer the question in that matter that the judge would probably like to throw out my plea deal and force me into trial.

(App. 61). Respondent testified plea counsel told him that if he “didn’t answer the questions according to how [he] was supposed to that [he] would not probably get the deal.” (App. 61-62).

Respondent also testified the State was initially not going to call his case before his codefendants’ case. (App. 62). He testified,

And it seemed to me that when my lawyers got swapped around that the solicitor swapped around tactics, as well, and decided to try me first. And that caught me off guard because I was told that I wasn’t going to be tried first, that the other people who were giving statements who were admitting guilt or admitting participating would be going to trial first and that I would be going to trial last.

(App. 62). Respondent asserted he was not guilty but pled guilty due to threats that he would go to prison for the rest of his life and never see his children again. (App. 62, 66).

On cross-examination, Respondent admitted he was at the club the night of the shooting, and his codefendants were going to testify “that pretty much that [he] was the shooter.” (App. 68, 71). Respondent stated, “It’s six of us involved and I don’t know three of them.” (App. 69). Later, he stated he did not know four of the codefendants. (App. 70). He testified the State’s evidence consisted of “[m]ere testimony about [his] codefendants.” (App. 68).

Plea counsel testified she was initially appointed to represent Respondent, but his case was transferred to a different attorney due to her workload. She stated she remained familiar with his case because she was planning to sit second chair. Plea counsel stated Respondent’s attorney discovered a conflict in January 2020, so the case was reassigned her. (App. 75-76). Plea counsel stated she was noticed for a status conference in January 2020, and the court gave her additional time to prepare. However, courts closed in March 2020 due to Covid. Plea counsel stated court resumed around the end of September, but she did not feel comfortable “jumping into his case at

that time,” so the court continued the trial until November 9.<sup>1</sup> (App. 80-81). Although she could not meet with Respondent in person during that time, plea counsel testified she was able to talk with him pretty regularly on the phone and get the information she needed. (App. 81).

Plea counsel testified witnesses and the victims initially identified Corey Sanders, Benjamin Chestnut, Anthony Brevard, and Barry Reed as individuals involved in the shooting. Thereafter, Sanders and Chestnut “identified [Respondent] as the individual that was firing an assault rifle.” (App. 77). Plea counsel stated another individual—Rockmore—was later arrested and also “pointed the finger at” Respondent. (App. 78). She stated that if they had proceeded to trial, she would have impeached the codefendants with their multiple statements. Counsel testified she also obtained transcripts from State grand jury testimony to use for impeachment. (App. 89).

Plea counsel stated law enforcement recovered a bandana from the scene with DNA matching Respondent’s DNA. (App. 77-78). Additionally, cell towers placed Respondent’s phone in the area at the time of the shooting, and law enforcement extracted text messages from the phones of the codefendants “that suggested he was meeting some of these other individuals there at the club.” (App. 78). Specifically, counsel stated the State was focused on a text message in a group chat in Respondent’s phone and Reed’s phone that said, “Bring your shoes.” (App. 94). She explained,

[Respondent] gave me an explanation for that text. We were trying to figure out a way to present that explanation without him having to testify. We consulted with some other individuals who we believed would have some knowledge of it, what that would mean and their—the information they provided was not positive for us.

Plea counsel clarified she was informed the message “meant to bring your guns.” (App. 94).

Plea counsel testified Respondent maintained “he merely was present at the club.”

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent pled guilty on November 5, 2020.

However, she agreed the State likely would have used the “Bring your shoes” message to refute a mere presence defense. (App. 94). Plea counsel stated Respondent had “individuals in the vehicle with him” the night of the shooting, but she “was not allowed to speak with” them. (App. 78). When asked who did not allow her to speak with them, counsel replied, “Well, they basically told [Respondent] they did not want to speak. They did not want to get involved. Because there was a parallel investigation going on in the Attorney General’s Office against Mr. Barry Reed for drugs.” (App. 79). Plea counsel stated she had a witness—Sierra Adams—that told law enforcement she saw Sanders and Chestnut but said no when asked if she saw anyone fitting Respondent’s description; plea counsel planned to call Adams as a witness at trial. (App. 80-81).

Plea counsel stated she was concerned about the State raising gang affiliations. She explained the State’s theory “was this whole situation surrounded an issue with groups of Bloods and this more small group of Bloods, but called Paid Family that was kind of like a music group pushing drugs and music and stuff like that.” (App. 81). She testified, “I know they were going to accuse him of being in a gang, of not only being in a gang, but being an enforcer in a gang based on one of his codefendant’s statements.” (App. 82). Plea counsel stated she researched this issue and planned to file a pretrial memorandum to exclude gang evidence. (App. 82, 89). However, she informed Respondent that based on her research, the State would probably be able to introduce that evidence. She stated the gang evidence was a big concern for Respondent. (App. 82).

Plea counsel stated the State initially indicated they were not going to try Respondent before his codefendants. (App. 83). She explained Reed and Brevard did not provide statements, but Sanders and Chestnut did, “so they were going to always be testifying.” (App. 83). Plea counsel testified Dick Harpootlian represented Reed and Jack Swerling represented Brevard, and she believed Respondent was tried first because she was a public defender. (App. 83).

Regarding the plea, plea counsel testified she advised Respondent “that if he does not respond to certain questions in certain ways, the judge would not accept his guilty plea and that we would be going to trial.” (App. 84). She testified she did not threaten or coerce Respondent, but she explained,

I know that he was struggling with the idea, though. In fact, I think the night before, maybe two nights before, we had a very long conversation over the phone where he was very emotional and upset. So I know he was struggling with the decision. And I think during the plea, in fact, he asked me to turn to the mother of his youngest children and tell her that I’m sorry you’re having to hear me say this. Tell her it’s not true, I’m just saying it for the court.

(App. 84). Plea counsel testified it was ultimately Respondent’s decision to plead. (App. 84-85). She explained, “I think it’s one of those situations where I do what I always do, I advise my client no matter what, no matter how good I do, there’s always risks at trial. I don’t know what a jury is going to do.” (App. 90). She agreed that her advice to plead guilty was based on her belief that the codefendants would testify against Respondent, but she learned after the plea that they did not cooperate. Specifically, she testified that after Respondent’s plea, Reed pled guilty to BOPHAN<sup>2</sup> and received probation. She testified the solicitor told her “that the case [against Reed] had, basically, fallen apart. That the victim’s brother refused to cooperate anymore. . . . And that the testifying codefendants were all now saying they were no longer going to testify.” (App. 91-92). Plea counsel agreed, however, that this was hindsight, and when she advised Respondent about whether he should plead guilty, she did not know the codefendants would later decide not to testify against Reed. (App. 92). She explained, “I reached out to their lawyers on multiple occasions and

---

<sup>2</sup> Breach of peace, high and aggravated. See State v. Simms, 412 S.C. 590, 774 S.E.2d 445 (2015) (explaining breach of peace is a common-law misdemeanor punishable in magistrate’s court, but when “the breach of peace is deemed to be of a high and aggravated nature, the case may be ‘waived up’ to the Court of General Sessions”).

they all indicated they would be testifying.” (App. 92).

Following the hearing, the Court issued an Order granting PCR. Pertinently, the Court found counsel was ineffective in incorrectly advising Respondent “that co-defendants would testify against him should he go to trial.” (Or 4-5). The Court further found Respondent would not have pled guilty but for this incorrect advice and the pressure counsel placed on Respondent to plead. Additionally, the Court found plea counsel “allowed her client to present testimony to the plea judge that she knew was false,” “raised no objection to her client pleading guilty to charges where he maintained his innocence,” and “encouraged him to present false testimony to the court.” (Or 5). The Court concluded by citing Comment 6 to Rule 3.3, South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:

If a lawyer knows that the client intends to testify falsely or wants the lawyer to introduce false evidence, the lawyer should seek to persuade the client that the evidence should not be offered. If the persuasion is ineffective, and the lawyer continues to represent the client, the lawyer must refuse to offer the false evidence. If only a portion of the witness’s testimony will be false the lawyer may call the witness to testify but may not elicit or otherwise permit the witness to present testimony that the lawyer knows to be false.

The Court vacated the plea and remanded Respondent to the Court of General Sessions for a new trial.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for post-conviction relief depends on the specific issue before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, the appellate courts defer to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if any probative evidence in the record supports them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the PCR court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Probative evidence does not support the PCR court's finding that counsel allowed Respondent to present testimony to the plea court that "she knew was false" and "encouraged him to present false testimony to the court."**

Probative evidence does not support the PCR court's finding that plea counsel allowed Respondent to present testimony to the plea court that "she knew was false" and "encouraged him to present false testimony to the court." Based on the trial transcript and counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing, Respondent has not overcome the presumption that counsel was effective. Thus, the PCR court erred in granting relief.

"There is a strong presumption trial counsel provided adequate assistance." Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, an applicant must show counsel was deficient, and that deficiency prejudiced the applicant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In other words, "the applicant must show trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different." Green, 351 S.C. at 192, 569 S.E.2d at 322. "A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the trial's outcome." Id.

"A PCR applicant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may collaterally attack the plea only by showing that (1) counsel was ineffective and (2) there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the applicant would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 136, 654 S.E.2d 870, 873 (Ct. App. 2007). To prove prejudice following a guilty plea, the applicant "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

The crux of the PCR court’s order granting Respondent a new trial from a guilty plea is premised on the assumption that plea counsel knowingly allowed Respondent to present false testimony to the plea court. In support of this finding, the court relies on testimony that “shortly before the plea, [Respondent] asked [plea counsel] to tell his family that the statements he intended to make in admitting guilt during the plea colloquy were not going to be the truth.” However, that statement in and of itself does not mean Respondent was lying to the plea court in admitting his guilt. Likewise—and critically—it does not mean plea counsel believed Respondent was lying to the plea court.<sup>3</sup>

Admittedly, plea counsel acknowledged that Respondent maintained he was “merely present” at the club that night. (App. 94). However, according to plea counsel, the State’s evidence did not align with that assertion. Plea counsel testified that although Respondent claimed he was merely present at the scene of the fatal shooting, the State retrieved text messages from his phone showing him corresponding with codefendants. Plea counsel stated she spoke with potential witnesses who were unable to corroborate Respondent’s explanation for the text messages. Critically, plea counsel stated those individuals relayed that the phrase “Bring your shoes”—found in text messages in Respondent’s phone—really meant “Bring your guns.” (App. 94). Plea counsel also testified to her concerns that the State would introduce evidence that Respondent was involved in a gang—where he was “an enforcer.” (App. 81-82). Based on this evidence, it is not reasonable to believe plea counsel believed Respondent was lying to the plea court in admitting

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the PCR court found credible Respondent’s testimony that “throughout his representation by the various attorneys with the Public Defender’s Office, he always maintained his innocence,” and “he told [plea counsel] to tell his family that he was innocent of the charge of Voluntary Manslaughter and was only admitting guilt during the plea colloquy because he wanted the judge to accept his plea,” the PCR court did not make a credibility finding regarding Respondent’s specific testimony that he was actually innocent.

his guilt.

Likewise, Respondent's statement—"tell my family I am lying"—meant Respondent was lying about *something* at the time of the plea—either to his family or to the plea court. Based on plea counsel's testimony about the State's evidence, it is not reasonable to believe that plea counsel believed Respondent was lying to the plea court in admitting his guilt. Thus, probative evidence does not support the plea court's finding that plea counsel "allowed her client to present testimony to the plea judge that she knew was false " and "encouraged him to present false testimony to the Court." (Or. 6). In the absence of that finding, credible evidence does not support any finding that counsel was ineffective or that Respondent's plea was not knowing or voluntary. Thus, this Court should grant this petition for certiorari and vacate the PCR court's order.

**III. The PCR court erred as a matter in law in finding plea counsel was ineffective for advising Respondent that his codefendants would testify against him because that finding was based on hindsight.**

In addition to finding counsel allowed Respondent to present false testimony, the PCR court found counsel was ineffective for advising Respondent that his codefendants would testify against him at trial. Specifically, the Order found,

[Plea counsel] confirmed [Respondent's] account that the case against the co-defendants fell apart *after* [Respondent's] plea and that, *in retrospect*, her advice that co-defendants would testify against him should he go to trial was ultimately incorrect. The Court finds that this incorrect advice and the pressure to plead guilty that [plea counsel] placed on Applicant to plead guilty constituted ineffective assistance of counsel and that, but for counsel's errors, Applicant would not have pled guilty.

(Or. 4-5, emphasis added). However, this finding is based on hindsight and speculation. Thus, the PCR court erred as a matter of law in finding counsel ineffective in this regard.

Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012). "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's

performance must be highly deferential.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) “It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.” Id. “A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time.” Id. at 689. “ Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.” Id. at 668 (internal quotations omitted). “[A] guilty plea cannot be attacked as based on inadequate legal advice unless counsel was not a reasonably competent attorney and the advice was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Id. at 687 (internal quotations omitted).

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