STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Nov 03 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Courtney Clyburn-Pope, Circuit Court Judge

—————
WILLIAM OLIVER AGUILAR PINEDA,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000035

—————
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

—————
SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. There is evidence of probative value in the record that supports the PCR court’s finding defense counsel allowed and encouraged Mr. Aguilar to present testimony that she knew to be false to the court during his guilty plea hearing.

Relevant facts

Defense counsel began representing Mr. Aguilar soon after his arrest in April of 2017. App. 75, ll. 6-17. Shortly thereafter the case was transferred to another public defender at the Richland County office, Adam Ruffin due to counsel’s heavy caseload. App. 75, ll. 17-22. Mr. Ruffin represented Mr. Aguilar until he left the public defender’s office in February 2019 and Mr. Aguilar’s case was transferred again this time to Robert Forney. App. 75, l. 23-76, l. 6. Nearly a year later, in January 2020, Mr. Forney discovered that he represented a witness in the case against Mr. Aguilar and defense counsel was reassigned to the case.¹ App. 76, ll. 10-20.

On November 5, 2020, Mr. Aguilar pled guilty pursuant to negotiations with the state to voluntary manslaughter before Judge Benjamin.² App. 1-4. Regarding the incident the solicitor told the court that on March 22, 2017, Barry Reed planned to kill Pierre Wilson because the two had “a pre-existing feud.”³ App. 6, ll. 8-14. The solicitor alleged Mr. Aguilar was at the scene of the shooting. He claimed after Mr. Reed began shooting the victim Mr. Aguilar left in a car and began shooting out of the car with “an assault style weapon.” App. 6-7. The solicitor

¹ Mr. Aguilar and defense counsel both testified that Mr. Forney failed to communicate with Mr. Aguilar during the eleven-month period that he represented Aguilar. App. 52, l. 25-53, l. 8; 54, ll. 8-16; 76, ll. 6-6-7; 85, l. 13-86, l. 22.

² During the hearing Mr. Aguilar admitted guilt and did not express any dissatisfaction with defense counsel. App. 5-16.

³ The solicitor also claimed both Mr. Reed and Mr. Aguilar were members of the Bloods gang. App. 6, ll. 8-17.

asserted two of Mr. Aguilar's co-defendants picked him out of a photographic lineup and that an item of his clothing had been found at the scene. App. 7, ll. 10-18.

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Aguilar testified that he initially did not want to plead guilty and wanted to go to trial because he believed he was being set up for a crime he did not commit. App. 58, ll. 2-12; 60, l. 17; 66, ll. 2-5. Throughout the hearing he repeatedly stated he was innocent. App. 59, ll. 13-17; 62, ll. 21-24; 64, ll. 23-25; 65, ll. 23-25; 71, ll. 4-22.

Mr. Aguilar expressed that he felt pressured to plead guilty and stated that his decision was based on defense counsel's advice that if he did not accept the state's plea offer he would likely be convicted and go to prison for much longer for a crime he did not commit. App. 62, l. 24-63, l. 20; 63, l. 25-64, l. 23; 71, l. 23-72, l. 2. Mr. Aguilar testified prior to his guilty plea hearing defense counsel told him that he would be asked a series of questions by the judge and that he would have to answer each question. Defense counsel told him that if he told the judge he was not guilty the judge would not accept the plea and the plea deal, so he did as he was told during his guilty plea hearing. App. 61, ll. 11-24. Mr. Aguilar contended that if he had been advised to tell the truth, that he was innocent of the charges, he would have gone to trial. App. 68, ll. 2-7.

Defense counsel's testimony corroborated Mr. Aguilar's on all relevant points. Defense counsel acknowledged that Mr. Aguilar always denied having been involved in the shooting. App. 83, ll. 10-11. She denied threatening or coercing Mr. Aguilar to plead guilty. However, counsel admitted that when preparing Mr. Aguilar for his guilty plea hearing she "advised that if he [did] not respond to certain questions in certain ways, the judge would not accept his guilty plea and that we would be going to trial." App. 84, ll. 5-14. Counsel further testified that Mr. Aguilar was very distressed and struggled with the decision to plead guilty. She stated that Mr.

Aguilar asked her to turn to his family and explain to them that what he would tell the plea court regarding his guilt was not true. App. 84, ll. 15-23

Discussion

Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that counsel allowed and encouraged Mr. Aguilar to present false testimony to the plea court.

“A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction ... has two components.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The defendant must first demonstrate that counsel was deficient and then must also show this deficiency resulted in prejudice. *Id.* To satisfy the first prong, a defendant must show counsel's performance “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Franklin v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 563, 570–71, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 (2001). “However, there is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (internal quotation omitted).

To satisfy the second prong of the analysis in the context of an allegation that a guilty plea was improvidently accepted, the “defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” *Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 562, 681 S.E.2d 592, 594 (2009) (quoting *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)).

When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the appellate court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. *Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). Specifically, the voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing

judge alone but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and from the record of the PCR hearing. *Id.*

While it is true Mr. Aguilar admitted guilt during his guilty plea hearing, he testified at the evidentiary hearing, and counsel corroborated, that he did so at the direction of defense counsel. *See Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984). Mr. Aguilar and defense counsel both testified Aguilar was told to answer the court's questions in a certain manner. Counsel was admittedly aware that Mr. Aguilar always contended he was merely present at the club that the shooting occurred but maintained his innocence of this crime. Counsel also testified that Mr. Aguilar asked her to explain to his family that he did not mean what he said to the judge. Thus, counsel knew that he intended to present false testimony to the plea court of his guilt.

Counsel's representation fell below the objective standard of reasonableness where she directed Mr. Aguilar to "offer evidence she knew to be false" to the plea court. Her failure to take remedial measures regarding this matter violated the following well established rule of professional conduct.

(a) A lawyer shall not knowingly: . . . (3) offer evidence that the lawyer knows to be false. If a lawyer, the lawyer's client, or a witness called by the lawyer, has offered material evidence and the lawyer comes to know of its falsity, the lawyer shall take reasonable remedial measures, including, if necessary, disclosure to the tribunal. A lawyer may refuse to offer evidence, other than the testimony of a defendant in a criminal matter, that the lawyer reasonably believes is false.

S.C. App. Ct. R. RULE 407 RPC 3.3

The state argues that Mr. Aguilar's insistence of innocence and request that counsel tell his family he was lying during his guilty plea did not in and of itself mean that counsel believed Mr. Aguilar was lying to the court. However, at the evidentiary hearing defense counsel never indicated she did not believe Mr. Aguilar was innocent. This Court can only review evidence in

the record. There is no evidence in the record to support the state's assertion that defense counsel did not believe Mr. Aguilar was innocent. Rather, there is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding that Mr. Aguilar asserted his innocence throughout and shortly before pleading guilty under pressure from his own counsel asked counsel to explain to his family that he was lying to the plea court. Despite all that defense counsel continued to advise Mr. Aguilar to falsely testify to the plea court that he was guilty of this crime.

II. The PCR court correctly found Mr. Aguilar's guilty plea was involuntary where evidence of probative value supports the PCR court's finding that defense counsel was ineffective for advising and pressuring Mr. Aguilar to plead guilty where (1) counsel's advice that co-defendants would testify against him should he go to trial was incorrect; (2) counsel acknowledged that had the case gone to trial she could have effectively cross-examined the co-defendants regarding their statements implicating Mr. Aguilar; and (3) counsel confirmed Mr. Aguilar never admitted guilt and even requested she tell his family that he intended to offer false testimony during his guilty plea.

Relevant facts

Mr. Aguilar admitted he was present at the club where the shooting occurred but adamantly denied any involvement. App. 69, ll. 10-11; 71, ll. 4-22. Mr. Aguilar contended throughout the evidentiary hearing, that but for defense counsel's incorrect advice *and pressure to plead guilty*, he would have gone to trial. App. 57, l. 8-11; 58, ll. 1-2; 58, l. 17-59, l. 8; 60, ll. 7-17; 62, ll. 2-7; 63, l. 1465, l. 20; 66, ll. 8-11; 71, l. 23-72, l. 2. He asserted there were witnesses that could testify on his behalf had he gone to trial. He stated, he "was really getting pushed into pleading guilty." App. 58, ll. 10-18. Mr. Aguilar testified he was advised that going to trial was futile because he would be found guilty and given the maximum possible sentence of life without parole. App. 58, l. 19-59, l. 10. Mr. Aguilar said defense counsel told him to think about his children. She warned he may never see them again if he went to trial and ultimately that is why he pled guilty. App. 66, ll. 2-11. Mr. Aguilar was confused by this advice because he believed he had a defense and did not want to plead guilty because he was not guilty. App. 59, ll. 13-23.

He testified that he was advised “two or three” co-defendants were going to testify against him and that factored into his decision to plead guilty instead of going to trial. App. 60, ll. 1-17. Mr. Aguilar indicated that the state’s case relied on his co-defendants naming him as the shooter. However, he testified that he was not associated with most of the men named as the co-defendants in this case. App. 59, l. 24-60, l. 21; 68, l. 18-69, l. 9; 70, l. 15-71, l. 3.

Defense counsel agreed that it was fair that Mr. Aguilar had misgivings about his representation after being transferred between attorneys at her office multiple times. App. 85, ll. 6-12. She agreed that Mr. Aguilar may have lacked confidence in her office’s representation of him when it was clear that Mr. Forney neglected to look at his file or contact him for almost an entire year. App. 86, ll. 1-22.

Defense counsel testified regarding the state’s evidence against Mr. Aguilar. There were two individuals that multiple witnesses saw with guns, and neither were Mr. Aguilar. App. 87, ll. 1-20. She agreed the state had charged multiple co-defendants including Corey Sanders and Benjamin Chestnut who were both seen with guns the evening of the shooting. Counsel testified that co-defendants began giving statements that continued to evolve and eventually their statements put a gun in Mr. Aguilar’s hand during the shooting. App. 77, ll. 2-22; 88, ll. 11-25. The other evidence was an article of clothing that belonged to Mr. Aguilar, cell phone evidence demonstrating he was at the club, and some text messages that suggested he was meeting some of the other suspects at the club. App. 77, l. 23-78, l. 7.

Defense counsel agreed that had they gone to trial she could have made a pre-trial motion to suppress any gang evidence and could have cross-examined the testifying co-defendants because they made multiple statements to law enforcement. App. 89, ll. 2-18. She agreed that Mr. Aguilar always admitted he had been at the club. She said Mr. Aguilar had witnesses with

him that evening, but she was unable to speak with them because they were either represented by attorneys or did not wish to be involved. App. 78, l. 22-79, l. 6. Defense counsel had one eyewitness that denied seeing anyone fitting Mr. Aguilar's description involved in the incident. App. 79, l. 20-80, l. 6. Her recollection was that Mr. Aguilar was concerned about the state bringing up "gang affiliations" at trial. App. 81, ll. 19-23.

Regardless of the above, counsel admitted she recommended that Mr. Aguilar plead guilty instead of going to trial. She explained that she advised Mr. Aguilar that no matter what trial was a risk, and she did not know what the jury would decide. App. 90, ll. 1-10. Defense counsel said her main reason for advising Mr. Aguilar plead guilty was the damning testimony of his co-defendants. App. 91, ll. 12-16. Counsel admitted that ultimately the co-defendants opted not to cooperate with state and their case "had, basically, fallen apart." App. 91, ll. 17-25.

Discussion

There is evidence in the record of probative value to support the PCR court's decision to grant PCR where but for defense counsel's advice and undue pressure Mr. Aguilar would not have pleaded guilty and would have proceeded to trial. *See Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 989 (Stating "[t]he appropriate scope of review of this Court is that "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge's findings.").

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).